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Under Criteria A, Pleasant Valley is representative of the
small communities which developed throughout the Peidmont
Region to serve as commercial and service centers for the
surrounding farms. The mill, cannery and the still-
functioning store serve as important reminders of this role.
The industrial complex is also interesting for the
illustration it provides of the changing economic activities
of the area, from the milling of grain and lumber to canning
of fruits and vegetables. The canning industry was an
important one in Carroll County in the late 19th and early
20th century. By the mid-1970s all of tne county’s canning
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operations had closed. The Pleasant Valley facility is
probably the most intact example of a cannery left in Carroll
County.

Under Criteria C, Pleasant Valley is significant as a
relatively intact example of Peidmont Region village. It
exhibits the linear pattern of development typical of the
area, with regularly spaced buildings sited close to the road.
Its buildings, which date from the early 19th century through
the early 20th century, are representative of the conservative
building traditions of the region. Pleasant Valley retains
important examples of increasingly rare building types,
including the attached country store-residence, the mill and
the cannery. While some buildings have been altered, they
retain sufficient integrity to convey a sense of the historic wvillage.
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Geographic Region:

Eastern Shore (all Eastern Shore counties, and Cecil)
Western Shore (Anne Arundel, Calvert, Charles,
Prince George‘s and St. Mary’s)
Piedmont (Baltimore City, Baltimore, Carroll,
Frederick, Harford, Howard, Montgomery)
Western Maryland (Allegany, Garrett and Washington)

Chronological /Developmental Periods:

Paleo-Indian 10000-7500 B.C.

Early Archaic 7500-6000 B.C.

Middle Archaic 6000-4000 B.C.

Late Archaic 4000-2000 B.C.

Early Woodland 2000-500 B.C.

Middle Woodland 500 B.C.- A.D.900

Late Woodland/Archaic A.D. 900-1600

Ccontact and Settlement A.D. 1570-1750

Rural Agrarian Intensification A.D. 1680~-1815
Agricultural-Industrial Transition A.D. 1815-1870

Industrial /Urban Dominance A.D. 1870-1930

Modern Period A.D. 1930-Present

Unknown Period ( ____ prehistoric ___ historic )

Prehistoric Period Themes: IV. Histeoric Period Themes:
Subsistence Agriculture

Settlement X architecture, Landscape Architecture,

and Community Planning

' Political X Economic (Commercial and Industrial)
Demographic Government /Law
Religion Military
Technology Religion
Environmental Adaption Social/Educational/Cultural
Transportation
V. Resource Type:
Category: k&%ﬁ;@
Historic Environment: xﬁ%qz4/
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Pleasant Valley Historic District
CARR-1571

Pleasant Valley, Carroll County
Early 19" century — 1954

Pleasant Valley is a very small rural community in north central Carroll County situated
along the southern bank of the Bear Branch. It originated as a 19" century linear community set
into a hillside that expanded with a second street placed further up the hillside in the 20" century.
Most of the town structures date to the late 19" and early 20" centuries. The houses are
generally two stories in height and three to four bays wide, and constructed of frame on long,
narrow lots. Most of the structures retain their 19" and 20" century form and details. Pleasant
Valley retains integrity of location, design, materials, setting and feeling.

Pleasant Valley developed in a linear pattern along Pleasant Valley Road in the 19"
century. The village was a commercial and social center for the surrounding farms. At one time
the village also hosted milling and canning activities. The Pleasant Valley Historic District is
eligible for listing in the National Register under criteria A and C. The village is significant as
an intact example of a rural village in Carroll County’s piedmont region. It is also significant for
its architecture which dates from the 19" through the 20" century and reflects the conservative

building traditions of the area.



Maryland Historical Trust Inventory No. CARR-1571
Maryland Inventory of
Historic Properties Form

1. Name of Property (indicate preferred name)
historic
other Pleasant Valley Historic District

2. Location

street and number __not for publication
city, town Pleasant Valley __ vicinity
county Carroll County

3. Owner of Property (give names and mailing addresses of all owners)

name Multiple Ownership
street and number telephone
city, town Pleasant Valley state MD zip code

4. Location of Legal Description

courthouse, registry of deeds, etc. Carroll County Courthouse liber folio

city, town Westminster tax map 30 tax parcel tax |ID number

5. Primary Location of Additional Data

Contributing Resource in National Register District
Contributing Resource in Local Historic District

X ___ Determined Eligible for the National Register/Maryland Register
Determined Ineligible for the National Register/Maryland Register
Recorded by HABS/HAER
Historic Structure Report or Research Report at MHT
Other:

6. Classification

Category Ownership Current Function Resource Count
__ X district ______public ____agriculture __ landscape Contributing Noncontributing
__ building(s) __ private __X _commercelftrade ____ recreation/culture 47 8 buildings
___ structure _ X both ___ defense X __religion sites
site X __domestic social structures
object education ____transportation objects
__ funerary ____work in progress 47 8 Total
______government ____unknown
__health care __ vacant/not in use Number of Contributing Resources
___industry other: previously listed in the Inventory

0



7. Description Inventory No. CARR-1571

Condition
___excellent ___deteriorated
X good __ruins
___ fair __ altered

Prepare both a one paragraph summary and a comprehensive description of the resource and its various elements as it
exists today.

Pleasant Valley is a very small rural community in north central Carroll County situated along the southern bank of the Bear
Branch. It originated as a 19" century linear community set into a hillside that expanded with a second street placed further up the
hillside in the 20" century. Most of the town structures date to the late 19" and early 20" centuries. The houses are generally two
stories in height and three to four bays wide, and constructed of frame on long, narrow lots. Most of the structures retain their 19" and
20" century form and details. Pleasant Valley retains integrity of location, design, materials, setting and feeling.

The village of Pleasant Valley is located approximately five miles north-northwest of Westminster, the Carroll County seat. The
village boundaries run the length of Pleasant Valley Road from east to west beginning at Hughes Shop Road and terminating at
Richardson Road. The northern boundary is roughly the Bear Branch and the southern boundary runs along High Street. The
surrounding area is comprised of large lots, mostly in agricultural use. Early development in the town occurred along Pleasant Valley
Road. A second wave of development in the early 20" century occurred on second, parallel street, High Street, up a hill, but south of
Pleasant Valley Road. Church Street and another small alley connect Pleasant Valley Road to High Street.

As houses on Pleasant Valley Road are set into a steep hill, houses on the north side have entrances on street level, but the
ground drops away toward the rear of the lot. Houses on the south side of the street are set into the hill and sit on high basements.
There is a mix of attached and detached houses on Pleasant Valley Road. The houses are mostly frame, and two stories in height with
side-gabled roofs. They are generally three bays wide and most have full length front porches. Many of them still have standing seam
metal roofs. All the houses are set close to the road, but there is not a consistent setback.

The house on the northeast corner of Pleasant Valley and Richardson roads is a fine example of a turn of the century house and is
unique to the town. It is two-and-a-half stories tall with a side gable roof with a cross gable in front. To the east it has a square tower
with a pyramidal roof. Windows in the upper floor have stained glass accents. It has a porch that wraps around three sides.

The majority of houses on High Street are one-and-a-half story, gable front frame houses. Some of these are two bays wide with
an integrated entry porch supported by a turned post in one of the bays (generally the right hand side). On the second floor in the
gable end is a single window. 1432, 1436 and 1440 High Street are examples of this type. Another common plan is a three bay house
with a central entry and a full length hipped-roof porch. These have either a single or double window in the second floor gable end.
1416, 1420, and 1434 High Street are examples of this type. The front eaves on both types of houses are fairly deep. All the houses
on High Street are detached.

St Matthews Union Church was constructed in 1900 at the end of Pleasant Valley Road near Richardson Road. It is a frame,
gable front church sitting on a high stone foundation. The primary entrance is through a central door on the lower level. On the
sanctuary level all the windows are stained glass. In the center of the gable end over the entrance door is a pointed gothic arch
window. This is flanked by tall, narrow rectangular windows. Similar windows line the sides of the church. A square tower with a
pointed roof rises from the peak of the gable roof at the front of the church. Each corner of the tower is marked by much smaller
towers with pyramidal roofs.

The former firehouse is located at the southwest corner of Pleasant Valley Road and a small alley leading toward High Street. It
is a two story frame building set on a high basement with a standing seam metal roof. The central bottom bay has been bricked over
and contains a large garage door for engine storage. The original windows have been replaced and the building is sheathed in synthetic
siding. There is also a one story square tower located on the west side of the roof. The building was originally constructed in the
1920s as a lodge hall. In the 1960s, the fire department raised the basement to allow for storage of large engines.

St. Matthews Union Church was constructed in 1900 at the end of Pleasant Valley Road near Richardson Road. Itis a frame,
gable front church sitting on a high stone foundation. The primary entrance is through a central door on the lower level. On the
sanctuary level all the windows are stained glass. In the center of the gable end over the entrance door is a pointed gothic arch
window. This is flanked by tall, narrow rectangular windows. Similar windows line the sides of the church. A square tower with a
pointed roof rises from the peak of the gable roof at the front of the church. Each corner of the tower is marked by much smaller
towers with pyramidal roofs.

There is a rare example of a two-and-a-half story, frame store/residence located at 1374 Pleasant Valley Road. The building is
sheathed in German siding, sits on a stone foundation, and has a standing seam metal roof. The store side, on the east, is gable-
fronted, with large wooden glass windows. There is a door to access the second story to the left of the double entrance door to the
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store. The house side is on the west side with a mansard roof and 2/2 windows. The store is referred to as “Leister’s Store” ina 1976
newspaper article.' The store is currently vacant.

The two-story, side gable, brick house at 1359 Pleasant Valley road has four bays on the first floor and three on the second floor.
The two center bays on the lower level have doors. The house has a full length, shed roof porch, wooden lintels above all the doors
and windows, and fine sawn bargeboard along the eaves.

The Pleasant Valley cemetery lies at the top of a hill outside of the historic district south of town on the east side of Pleasant
Valley Road.

The former mill race and pond, located along the Bear Branch on the north side of Pleasant Valley Road, are overgrown. There
is a water treatment plant on the former mill site.

The town’s former tannery, once located at the west end of town on Richardson Road, is no longer extant. A new fire house is

now located on the property.

' Dean Minnich, “Pleasant Valley — Country-Livin’ at its Best,” 1976, Found in the vertical files of the Historical Society of Carroll
County.



8. Significance Inventory No. CARR-1571

Period Areas of Significance Check and justify below
_1600-1699 X agriculture __ economics __ health/medicine __ performing arts
__1700-1799 __ archeology __ education X industry __ philosophy
X 1800-1899 X architecture ___engineering ___invention ___ politics/government
X 1900-1999 __art __ entertainment/ __landscape architecture __ religion
__ 2000- ___commerce recreation __law ___ science
__ communications __ ethnic heritage __literature __ social history
__ community planning  __ exploration/ __ maritime history __ transportation
___conservation settlement __ military __other:
Specific dates Architect/Builder unknown

Construction dates  early 19" century - 1954

Evaluation for:

X National Register X Maryland Register not evaluated

Prepare a one-paragraph summary statement of significance addressing applicable criteria, followed by a narrative discussion of the
history of the resource and its context. (For compliance projects, complete evaluation on a DOE Form — see manual.)

Pleasant Valley is a small, rural historic community in north central Carroll County that developed in a linear pattern along
Pleasant Valley Road in the 19" century. The village was a commercial and social center for the surrounding farms. At one time the
village also hosted milling and canning activities. The Pleasant Valley Historic District is eligible for listing in the National Register
under criteria A and C. The village is significant as an intact example of a rural village in Carroll County’s piedmont region. It is also
significant for its architecture which dates from the 19 through the 20" century and reflects the conservative building traditions of the
area.

Local lore holds that the village was named by a visitor intrigued by the area’s natural beauty. Ms. Emma Myers Read moved to
Pleasant Valley in the early 1880s with her family. In the 1960s she wrote a series of articles reminiscing on her experiences as a
child growing up in Pleasant Valley in the late 19® century. In her memoirs, she states: “Elizabeth Kurtz of Baltimore was visiting her
friend, Laura Devilbiss, in the home of her father, Mr. Edward Devilbiss. One morning, she went out walking. She was thrilled by
the scene of green meadows and rolling hills, and upon her return suggested that it should be named Pleasant Valley.”

Pleasant Valley is situated on two grants of land—Phillips Range and the Resurvey of Lookabout. These land grants were
conveyed by Charles Devilbiss to John and Nancy Hesson in the early 1850s. This conveyance included a house and store. The store
stocked basic necessities. There was also a mill that ground corn and wheat into flour.” In the ensuing decade, the town grew slowly.
Martinet’s 1862 map of Carroll County indicates a store operated by J. Hesson and a tannery on the west side of the village. It also
shows a grist and saw mill between the Bear Branch and Pleasant Valley Road on the northeast side of town.* According to Emma
Read’s memoirs, John Hesson sold his store and house to Harry B. Albaugh on March 28, 1872. Her grandfather bought the Pleasant
Valley property from Mr. Albaugh and paid $3000 for it.*

The 1877 Atlas of Carroll County, Maryland, shows only 23 structures in the village. There is a mill shown on the north side of
Pleasant Valley Road toward the west side of town. This was likely operated by Edward M. Hahn who is indicated as “Dealer in
Flour, Feed, &c. Custom Grinding and Sawing done to order. "8 It also indicates the Valley Tannery operated by William Devilbiss
along the west side of Richardson Road the intersection with Pleasant Valley Road. The atlas advertises: “Wm. H. Devilbiss, Tanner
and Currier. Leather constantly on hand for sale. Also Farmer.” The map shows the store being operated by H.B. Albaugh.

Despite industrial and commercial growth in the late 19" century, agriculture remained the dominant force in Carroll County’s
economy. Agricultural goods supported related industries such as canning, milling, tanning, and cigar manufacturing.” Pleasant

2 Minnich, Dean, “Pleasant Valley,” Carroll County Times, September 5, 1993.

? Minnich, “Pleasant Valley;” “Pleasant Valley Area,” Carroll County Times, 1976, found in the Historical Society of Carroll
County’s vertical files.

* Simon J., Martinet, Surveyor and Civil Engineer, Map of Carroll County, Maryland, 1862.

* Read, Emma Myers, 3/30/1961 article found in the vertical files of the Historical Society of Carroll County.

% Lake, Griffing and Stevenson, An Atlas of Carroll County, Maryland, 1877.

7 Warner, Nancy M., et al., Carroll County Maryland: A History, 1837-1976 (Westminster: Carroll County Bicentennial Committee,
1976), p.143 — 145.
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Valley is typical of this pattern. Surrounded by agricultural land, the village contained several small industrial and commercial
enterprises. According to Read’s memoirs, “Pleasant Valley was quite an enterprising little town. It had its Blacksmith Shop, its Grist
mill, Saw mill, a Wheel-wright shop, a Public Cider Press, an Ice Cream Factory, a Cabinet Making Shop, two stores and two
Shoemaker Shops.” The shoemakers were Mr. Isaac Sullivan and Mr. Frolock. The cabinet-making shop was operated by the Seneft
brothers. She states that there was a cigar factory over Mr. Myerly’s wheelwright shop. Orchards were plentiful, mostly with apples,
and Mr. Joe Yingling owned a press in town. Many houses used to have large side yards with fruit and shade trees, until new houses
were built in the yards. There was an ice house at the rear of the store. In the winter they cut ice from the mill pond which was
located at the rear of Edward Hahn’s yard. She states that Mr. Kester had a “General Merchandise Country Store.” It was located
along the west side of their home. A saloon briefly operated within the town, but it didn’t last long because “our village was a
temperance one. The villagers did not like liquor around.” She remembers a “tan-yard” that had vats strewn around which contained
chemicals and bark used for the tanning of hides. When the hides were taken from the vats they were hung on big wooden racks. She
claims that when the hides were cured they were sent to England.®

In the early 20" century, raising canning crops became an increasingly important aspect of Carroll County agriculture as local
canneries demanded more produce. Products grown included tomatoes, sweet corn, lima beans, peas and asparagus. The break out of
World War I increased demand for canned products. The stock market crash of 1929 hurt the canning industry, as well as other
agricultural industries. In 1929, Carroll County had 24 canneries; by 1934 there were only ten.” In Pleasant Valley, the cannery
operated until 1943, but prior to its closing, it was only operated on a seasonal basis. The Town’s privately run water system was
originally built to accommodate this canning factory, but later the townspeople tapped into the system.'

The Pleasant Valley Fire Company was created in 1931, when thirty residents joined together because it took too long, 20
minutes, for Westminster’s fire company to reach the village. The Patriotic Order of Sons of America allowed the company to use
their lodge hall located on the south side of Pleasant Valley Road as its headquarters. In 1946, the fire company purchased the
building. The building has been remodeled several times including in 1960 when they bought a new fire engine that wouldn’t fit in
the existing building. To provide sufficient space for the new engine, the company jacked up the building and remodeled the ground
floor. The current firehouse, located at 2030 Pleasant Valley Road, opened in 1983."" The fire hall is the center of community activity
and is used for all manner of public events.

Read states that church services were held at the brick schoolhouse that was constructed in 1859 outside of town, until the
Union Church was built in 1879. Children went to Sunday school in the lower level of the church. She notes that the church was a
union one—one Sunday the Reform pastor gave the sermon and the next the Lutheran minister. '

¥ Read, 4/13/1961, 4/17/1961, 5/4/1961, 5/25/1961, 6/8/1961, 6/29/1961.

? Lee, Carol. Legacy of the Land (Westminster, Maryland: The Carroll County Commissioners, 1982), p.90-91, 107, 129.
' Minnich “Pleasant Valley — Country-Livin’ at its Best.”

""" Jamie Schmidt, “Protecting the Pleasant Valley Area,” Carroll County Times, July 27, 2003.

' Read, 4/20/1961, 6/1/1961, 12/7/1961.



9. Major Bibliographical References Inventory No. CARR-1571

Historical Society of Carroll County vertical files.

Lake, Griffing and Stevenson, An Atlas of Carroll County, Maryland (Philadelphia, PA, 1877).

Lee, Carol. Legacy of the Land (Westminster, Maryland: The Carroll County Commissioners, 1982).
Martinet, Simon J., Surveyor and Civil Engineer, Map of Carroll County, Maryland, 1862,

Warner, Nancy M., et al., Carroll County Maryland: A History, 1837-1976 (Westminster: Carroll County Bicentennial Committee,
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10. Geographical Data

Acreage of surveyed property 17.6
Acreage of historical setting 17.6
Quadrangle name Littlestown Quadrangle scale: 1:24.000

Verbal boundary description and justification
The Pleasant Valley Historic District encompasses almost all parcels facing Pleasant Valley Road from Hughes Shop Road on the
east to Richardson Road on the west. It also encompasses all the parcels on the north side of High Street.

11. Form Prepared by

namel/title Nicole A Diehlmann

organization Maryland Historical Trust date June 28, 2004
street & number 100 Community Place telephone  410-514-7625
city or town Crownsville state MD

The Maryland Inventory of Historic Properties was officially created by an Act of the Maryland Legislature
to be found in the Annotated Code of Maryland, Article 41, Section 181 KA,
1974 supplement.

The survey and inventory are being prepared for information and record purposes only
and do not constitute any infringement of individual property rights.

return to: Maryland Historical Trust
DHCD/DHCP
100 Community Place
Crownsville, MD 21032-2023
410-514-7600



Contributing & Noncontributing Resources

District Name: Pleasant Valley Historic District Inventory Number: CARR-1571
Property Tax Tax Contributing Inventory Number
Address Map Parcel Resource? of Property

2265?:mer Roa_d - o 30 N 148 _Contributing - -

1401 High Street 30 87 Noncontributing

1404 High Street 30 100 Contributing

1408 High Street 30 215 Contributing

1412 High Street 30 214 Contributing

1416 High Street 30 200 Contributing

1420 High Street 30 207 Contributing

1424 High Street 30 212 Contributing

1428 High Street 30 140 Contributing

1432 High Street 30 141 Contributing

1436 High Street 30 142 Contributing

1440 High Street 30 143 Contributing

Pleasant Valley Road (between 220 and 206) 30 110 Contributing

Pleasant Valley Road (vacant) 30 226 Noncontributing

Pleasant Valley Road (vacant) 30 204 Noncontributing

Pleasant Valley Road (vacant lot between 184 30 ? Noncontributing

and 124)

Pleasant Valley Road 30 150 Contributing

Pleasant Valley Road 30 184 Contributing

Pleasant Valley Road 30 53 Contributing

Pleasant Valley Road 30 126 Contributing

Pleasant Valley Road 30 62 Contributing

Pleasant Valley Road (vacant) 30 221 Noncontributing

1310 Pleasant Valley Road 30 205 Noncontributing

1316 Pleasant Valley Road 30 203 Contributing

1317 Pleasant Valley Road 30 541 Noncontributing

1320 Pleasant Valley Road 30 211 Contributing

1321 Pleasant Valley Road 30 60 Contributing
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Contributing & Noncontributing Resources

District Name: Pleasant Valley Historic District Inventory Number: CARR-1571
Property Tax Tax Contributing Inventory Number
Address Map Parcel Resource? of Property

1325 Pleaséﬁt Valley Roa_c-l. - ; 59 —C;mtributing o -

1329 Pleasant Valley Road 30 219 Contributing

1332 Pleasant Valley Road 30 210 Contributing

1335 Pleasant Valley Road (two houses both 30 218 Contributing

contributing)

1337 Pleasant Valley Road 30 227 Contributing

1340 Pleasant Valley Road 30 220 Contributing

1343 Pleasant Valley Road 30 225 Contributing

1346 Pleasant Valley Road 30 206 Noncontributing

1359 Pleasant Valley Road 30 216 Contributing

1365 Pleasant Valley Road 30 181 Contributing

1366 Pleasant Valley Road 30 109 Contributing

1370 Pleasant Valley Road 30 209 Contributing

1371 Pleasant Valley Road 30 182 Contributing

1374 Pleasant Valley Road 30 233 Contributing

1375 Pleasant Valley Road 30 145 Contributing

1379 Pleasant Valley Road 30 183 Contributing

1380 Pleasant Valley Road (includes 30 72 Contributing

outbuilding)

1402 Pleasant Valley Road 30 162 Contributing

1403 Pleasant Valley Road 30 124 Contributing

1404 Pleasant Valley Road 30 147 Contributing

1405/1407 Pleasant Valley Road 30 139 Contributing

1409 Pleasant Valley Road 30 138 Contributing

1412 Pleasant Valley Road 30 146 Contributing

1420 Pleasant Valley Road 30 128 Contributing

1422 Pleasant Valley Road 30 127 Contributing

1427 Pleasant Valley Road 30 137 Contributing

1429 Pleasant Valley Road 30 105 Contributing

Page 2 of 3
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Contributing & Noncontributing Resources

4™ District Name: Pleasant Valley Historic District Inventory Number: CARR-1571
S
Property Tax Tax Contributing Inventory Number
Address Map Parcel Resource? of Property
1437 Pleasant Valley Road 30 224 Contributing
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